Country-of-Origin Labelling (CoOL)

A Review of the Relevant Literature on Consumer Preferences, Understanding, Use and Willingness-to-Pay for CoOL of Food and Meat

FINAL REPORT

FOOD STANDARDS AUSTRALIA NEW ZEALAND

Prepared by:

Wendy J. Umberger, Ph.D.
Global Food and Agricultural Economics
School of Agriculture, Food and Wine
The University of Adelaide
Adelaide, South Australia 5005

September 2010

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	3
Introduction and Background: Country-of-Origin and Food Labelling	5
Mandatory versus Voluntary Food Labelling Programs and Country-of-Origin	7
The Case for Government Intervention in Food Labelling	7
The Role of Country-of-Origin in Consumers' Meat Purchase Decisions	9
Awareness, Use and Understanding of Country-of-Origin Labels on Food	12
Methodological Overview of Australian Awareness, Use and Understanding Studies	12
Awareness	13
Use of Country of Origin Information	13
Consumers' Understanding and Knowledge of CoOL Information	14
Relative Importance and Preferences for Country-of-Origin Labels: Food and M	leat .15
Estimating Consumers' Willingness-to-Pay for Origin Information in Food and M	Ieat 17
Issues with estimating Willingness-to-Pay for CoOL	18
Stated versus Revealed Preference Methods for Measuring Willingness-to-Pay	18
Willingness-to-Pay Estimates and the Impact of Methods and Design: U.S. Consum Willingness-to-Pay for CoOL of Meat	
Key Considerations when Evaluating Consumer WTP Values for Country-of-Origin Information	
Australian Consumers' Willingness-to-Pay for Country of Origin Information	22
Reference List (by Section and Alphabetical)	25
Introduction and Background	25
Mandatory versus Voluntary Food Labelling Programs and Country-of-Origin	25
The Case for Government Intervention in Food Labelling	26
The Role of Country-of-Origin in Consumers' Meat Purchase Decisions	26
Awareness, Use and Understanding of Country-of-Origin Labels on Food	27
Relative Importance and Preferences for Country-of-Origin Labels on Food and M	1eat .28
Estimating Consumers Willingness-to-Pay for Origin Information in Food and Me	eat29
Appendix A.1: Consumers Willingness-to-Pay for Origin	32
Appendix A.2: Summary Table of Consumers Willingness-to-Pay for Country Origin or Certified Origin	-
Appendix B: Additional Relevant Literature on Country-of-Origin Labelling	36
Consumers Attitudes, Perceptions, Usage, Knowledge, Behaviour Relative Import Related to CoOL and Credence Attributes	
CoOL Related Government and Industry Reports, Academic Discussions, Review	's37
Economic Impact Cost Benefit Analysis and Feasibility Studies related to CoOL	38

Executive Summary

This literature review is designed to provide insight on the role of country-of-origin (CoOL) information in Australian consumers' food and meat purchase decisions. Specifically we were asked to review studies which examined consumers' use, awareness, understanding, perceptions, relative importance and value of country-of-origin information. An extensive review of scientific, academic literature, industry and government reports was completed, including over 200 articles and reports. A relatively small proportion of the literature on CoOL provided information on the specific aspects (e.g. use, awareness, relative importance, willingness-to-pay) required by FSANZ, and an even smaller share were Australian relevant.

An important conclusion of the literature review, particularly those studies which involved consumer research, is that consumers are heterogeneous in their preferences for food labelling information and particularly in how they value of country-of-origin information. Thus, we should be careful when attempting to use the findings from consumer food studies conducted in other countries to extrapolate the relative importance and/or value Australian consumers' place on credence information in food products.

Consumers use a combination of intrinsic and extrinsic cues to form quality expectations. Increasingly consumers are using extrinsic cues to form perceptions about quality (Grunert, 2006 and Umberger et al., 2009a and 2009b). Extrinsic information, particularly country-of-origin becomes more important to consumers when purchasing products that are relatively less processed or fresh (Luomala, 2007).

From a policy and market failure perspective if consumers use country-of-origin *cognitively* to predict quality and/or gain confidence in their food, then providing them with origin information is very important. If country-of-origin information is not provided, consumers may be less able to predict the quality of the beef and meat or simply they may feel less confident in their ability to make choices. It is possible that they avoid purchasing certain meat products entirely (Caswell and Mojduszda, 1996).

The following are some key findings of the Australian studies examining consumers' awareness, use, perceptions, relative importance and value of country-of-origin information.

- 17% and 80% of Australian consumers indicated they were *aware* of country-of-origin information on food and drink products they purchased when asked using unprompted and prompted methods, respectively. Country-of-origin was the fourth most frequently mentioned labeling element in both prompted and unprompted scenarios. A higher share of consumers mentioned ingredient information, nutrition panel information, use by date and fat content than country-of-origin (FSANZ, 2003).
- The majority of Australian consumers (64%) indicated they are *not aware* of the origin of their beef when purchasing it at retail markets (Umberger and Mueller, 2010).
- Roughly one-half (49%) of consumers reported they used country-of-origin information when making food purchase decisions. A higher share of consumers reported using date mark (85%), ingredients list (66%) and nutrition panel information (66%) (FSANZ, 2003). When a larger list of product elements were

considered, 59% of consumers indicated they used country-of-origin information (FSANZ, 2008) – a higher share of consumers indicated they used date mark (73%) and fat content (62%).

- 19% of consumers indicated that country-of-origin information is not very clear (FSANZ 2003).
- Roughly 70% of Melbourne and Sydney consumers believe that it is at least 'quite' important to be provided with information on the country-of-origin of food products sold in the deli and seafood sections of supermarkets. Interestingly, CoOL was rated as 'quite important' or 'very important' by a larger share of consumers who were 55 years of age and older (Ware and Varigos, 2006a and 2006b).
- Only 8% of Australian consumers consider Australian country-of-origin to be the
 most important attribute when purchasing beef for consumption at home. However
 30% indicated that they did consider country-of-origin when purchasing beef. Price,
 cut, use-by-date and lean/fat content were considered most important (Umberger and
 Mueller, 2010).
- Coveney (2007) found that labelling food products with a "Made in Australia" logo increases consumers' trust with respect to the safety because they perceive Australian food standards to be relatively higher than many other countries that might import food.
- Country-of-origin labeling was a statistically significant determinant of Australian
 consumers' purchase decisions for prawns, but not for beef (Mueller et al., 2009 and
 Umberger and Mueller, 2010). In fact, the importance of extrinsic credence cues in
 Australian consumers beef purchase decisions were relatively small compared to
 marbling, fat and price.
- Only a small proportion (roughly 17%) of Australian beef consumers were willing to pay a small premium for beef that was guaranteed to be Australian beef. The premium was also very small (2%). This segment had a higher share of older (over age 50), quality concerned and price sensitive consumers.

Although only a small share (<20%) of consumers appear to be willing-to-pay for country-of-origin information, the literature does support the notion that at least some Australian consumers do use country-of-origin information when making food and meat purchase decisions. Consequently, considering that a share of Australian consumers use country-of-origin information when making beef, lamb and chicken meat purchases, and given that CoOL is currently not a mandatory requirement for unpackaged beef, lamb and chicken, there are possible issues of market failure, specifically related to asymmetric information and potentially public goods.

Introduction and Background: Country-of-Origin and Food Labelling

Increasingly, countries such as Australia are requiring food producers, manufacturers and retailers to provide consumers with information on the country-of-origin of food products and food ingredients. The proliferation and interest in country-of-origin labelling (CoOL) has been driven largely by increasing international trade of food products and food ingredients and consumers' and producers' concerns about the impact of imports on the domestic food supply. For example, the technical quality and safety of imported food products may differ from domestic products because of variations in the production and quality assurance systems and food safety requirements across countries. Regardless of any actual technical differences that may exist, consumers often perceive differences in the quality and safety of food products from specific countries (e.g. Coveney, 2007; Ehmke et al., 2008. Loureiro and Umberger, 2003). Additionally, some countries may be able to provide certain food products at a relatively lower cost and as a result, imported food products may gain domestic market share (Carter et al., 2006; Crespi and Marette, 2001; Loureiro and Umberger, 2007; Lusk et al., 2006; Davies and MacPherson, 2010; Priestley, 2005).

Currently, Standard 1.2.11 of the Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code (the Code) requires CoOL of packaged foods and certain unpackaged foods sold in Australia. However, Food Standards Australia New Zealand (FSANZ) is currently assessing the impact of changes to the Code which could require country-of-origin information also be provided on unpackaged beef, lamb and chicken meat.

In order to understand the impact of this proposed change, FSANZ commissioned this extensive review of the literature on CoOL. Specifically, FSANZ requested information related to the following aspects of CoOL: consumer preferences, understanding, and use of CoOL; the importance of CoOL relative to other product attributes; measures of willingness-to-pay for CoOL; and the impact of CoOL on purchase decisions. FSANZ also requested that the studies reviewed in this report be relevant to Australian consumers, meat products, and retail sale situations marketing unpackaged beef, lamb and chicken meat products (including supermarkets, butchers, delicatessens).

A broad range of academic journals as well as government and industry publications were searched using several scientific search engines. Hundreds of articles on various aspects of CoOL were reviewed. The most relevant studies are referenced within the text of this report, or else provided in the reference lists. Very few studies were found in the literature which explicitly address one or more of the required aspects of CoOL with respect to Australian consumers' and meat products. Thus, when Australian-specific literature is unavailable (e.g. willingness-to-pay) the results of relevant consumer studies are provided. We do, however, caution using the results from non-Australian samples to extrapolate the value of CoOL to Australian consumers for economic analysis.

Moreover, nearly all of the previous studies used direct estimation methods, such as rating, ranking and contingent valuation methods to examine the importance and value Australian consumers place on country-of-origin information when purchasing unpackaged meat products. However, the relative importance and value consumers place on credence information in these types of studies is typically overstated or biased as a result of

experimental design issues (Gao and Schroeder, 2009; Lusk and Shogren, 2007; Umberger and Mueller, 2010). As such, further research is necessary to fully understand whether the benefits of increasing the CoOL requirements for meat products would exceed the estimated costs of changes. For example, a non-hypothetical revealed preference study or discrete choice experiment simulating realistic unpackaged meat retailing scenarios and representing the relevant alternate CoOL scenarios would provide additional in-depth insight on how Australian consumers make choices both with and without country-of-origin information. Ultimately, this type of research would provide a more accurate estimate of the relative importance and value of CoOL information to Australian consumers when purchasing the relevant meat products. This information, although currently unavailable, is essential for estimating the "potential benefits" component of an economic cost-benefit analysis.

Mandatory versus Voluntary Food Labelling Programs and Country-of-Origin

The food industry, policy makers and academics have long debated whether food country-of-origin labelling (CoOL) programs should be mandatory or voluntary, what entity should oversee the regulation, and which food products should be labelled with origin information. Opponents of mandatory labelling contend that the direct costs of mandatory CoOL programs (e.g. costs of segregation, labelling and enforcement) are substantial and would outweigh the social benefits. For example, in 2006 the Centre for International Economics (CIE) conducted a feasibility study examining the economic costs and benefits that may result from extending the Australian CoOL provision to include certain packaged fruits and vegetables. The CIE found that the large costs of such an extension would adversely impact the Australian fruit and vegetable industry and would only benefit a small proportion of consumers (CIE, 2006).

Conversely, proponents of mandatory CoOL claim that more extensive and/or mandatory labelling would provide domestic producers with a competitive advantage and consumers with valuable information about the quality and safety of their food products allowing them to make better informed food purchasing decisions (Davies and MacPherson, 2010; Umberger et al., 2003). As Carter et al. (2006) and Umberger (2004) discuss, price premiums for domestic country-of-origin food products may exist if consumers believe domestic products are higher quality and superior to substitute products, and if domestic producers can restrict entry and/or or control supply in the long-run.

In their 2006 feasibility study, the CIE suggested that the potential private benefits arising from additional CoOL information "...will depend on how highly consumers value that extra and more specific information (CIE, p. 18, 2006)." They found that with respect to the additional CoOL information for fruits and vegetables, only a small proportion of the Australian market would value the extra information. They go on to state that food manufacturers and retailers are already *voluntarily* providing products with this information to consumers who value it.

The Case for Government Intervention in Food Labelling

Regardless of the debate, it is important to consider the policy-relevant case for increased government intervention in food labelling. In a seminal article on the role of government labelling policies in consumer food markets, Caswell and Padberg (1992) suggest that policy-makers must evaluate how alternative labelling methods impact consumers' confidence in their food supply, knowledge and understanding of the dietary and health implications of consuming a food product and their overall behaviour with respect to food consumption.

Consumers use a variety of available visual cues to form perceptions and attitudes about the quality of retail meat products. Ultimately these visual cues influence their meat purchasing decisions (Caswell and Mojduszda 1996; Grunert 1997; Caswell 1998; Umberger 2007). These cues can be either intrinsic (e.g. colour, size, fat content or leanness) or extrinsic (e.g. price, brand, nutrition, origin, or production and process information). Intrinsic attributes are inherent in the meat product and cannot be changed without altering the product itself. Conversely, extrinsic attributes – such as country-of-origin – can be strategically changed by

food producers, processors, retailers and marketers without changing the physical properties of the product.

Product attributes can also be classified as "search", "experience", or "credence" attributes. For fresh and unpackaged beef and meat products, quality cues typically available at the point of purchase such as leanness, marbling or fat content and colour are intrinsic "search" attributes. Experience quality attributes are related to the consumption experience – these include palatability and food safety aspects. Alternatively, country-of-origin and the production processes (e.g. organic, natural, grass-fed) involved in producing meat products are credence attributes, meaning the consumer cannot determine if the attribute exists when purchasing or even consuming a product (Caswell and Mojduszka, 1996; Caswell, 1998). Therefore, truthful labelling of credence attributes is necessary for consumers to use this information when making purchasing decisions (Darby and Karni 1973; Caswell and Mojduszka, 1996). In other words, labelling of credence attributes is necessary so that consumers can use them as visual cues.

Credible labelling of credence attributes often requires government intervention and oversight in food labelling programs to avoid market failures related to asymmetric information or public goods. Umberger (2004) discusses that auditable traceback systems are required for extrinsic credence attributes to be verified and labelled and that government oversight is often necessary to ensure traceability systems function efficiently. Golan et al. (2001) and McCluskey (2001) explain that for credence good markets to function efficiently, third-party monitoring and certification are often required to discourage fraudulent behaviour within the supply chain, establish uniformity in labelling and certification procedures and reduce informational asymmetry.

Caswell and Mojduszka (1996) and Caswell (1998) explain that mandatory labelling of credence attributes can benefit society if asymmetric information exists among buyers and sellers and labelling policies reduce the asymmetry problem (e.g. integrity of food labelling improves), if the information provided through labelling increases consumers' demand for the product (e.g. consumers are willing to pay for country-of-origin information), and if there is a public good to providing the information (e.g. increased food safety or enhanced quality, and/or consumers value country-of-origin information but are not currently able to access the information).

The following sections of this report are designed to provide insight on whether or not Australian consumers would benefit from more extensive CoOL of unpackaged meat products. Specifically the role and value of country-of-origin information in consumers' food and meat purchasing decisions is considered.

The Role of Country-of-Origin in Consumers' Meat Purchase Decisions

Luomala (2007) and Shiv and Fedorikhin (1999) state that it is both difficult for consumers to explain, and complicated for researchers to measure, the role that origin plays in consumers' decision-making processes. This is because the unconscious processes are intertwined with conscious (strategic) processes that occur when origin information is presented to consumers.

Yet, the impact of origin on consumers' perceptions about food quality and choices is typically categorized as cognitive, affective or normative (Ehmke et al., 2008; Shimp and Sharma, 1987; Verlegh and Steenkamp, 1999; Verlegh and van Ittersum, 2001).

The *cognitive* aspects of origin with respect to food relate to consumers' beliefs associated with the value/price, quality, safety, cleanliness, and healthfulness of food products from specific geographic locations. For example, consumers often assume that food products originating from their own country are of higher quality or safety. Likewise, consumers may perceive products from specific regions as being more environmentally friendly or "green" (Ehmke et al., 2008; Shimp and Sharma, 1987; Verlegh and Steenkamp, 1999).

Affective aspects of origin are related to the emotions or feelings that consumers associate with a specific geographical place or origin. Often consumers have symbolic (e.g. status, authentic, exotic) or cultural (e.g. tradition) associations with food products from certain geographical locations. For example an Australian consumer whose parents or grandparents emigrated from Italy may have a strong positive association with wine from Italy or other Italian food products. Conversely, a consumer who immigrated to Australia from Japan is likely to have different associations with Italian wine (Ehmke et al., 2008; Shimp and Sharma, 1987; Verlegh and Steenkamp, 1999).

The personal and social norms of consumers (e.g. ethical/moral, political, and economic reasons) explain the *normative* affects of origin on consumers' food choices and attitudes. Consumers who are concerned about the environment may be less likely to purchase food products from a country with a reputation for being environmentally irresponsible. Ethnocentric consumers may feel a moral obligation to purchase only domestic products. Conversely, consumers may be more likely to purchase a product from a developing country or local farmer for sympathetic or *altruistic* reasons if they perceived purchasing products from that country would benefit a struggling society or group of people (Ehmke et al., 2008; Shimp and Sharma, 1987; Verlegh and Steenkamp, 1999).

Luomala (2007) studied Swedish, German and French consumers associations with origin and food and found that cognitive aspects of origin are particularly important to consumers when purchasing food as they are related to a consumer's level of confidence in the quality of a food product, including its safety, healthfulness, and cleanliness. For example, if consumers previously had positive quality experiences with a food product from a specific geographical location then they are more likely to re-purchase similar food products from that geographical location. However, if the experienced quality of a product labelled to be from a specific location was poor, or if they obtained a food-borne illness from a product they know was from a specific country, then they are less likely to purchase other products labelled with that location in the future. Over time, consumers' positive (negative) experiences including

food consumption and travel experiences, as well as media reports about relevant issues related to the location help to cultivate (diminish) consumers' confidence in the geographic location.

Luomala (2007) also points out that consumers' food choices are affected by a strong interaction of cognitive, normative and affective origin-related associations. Interestingly, consumers attach less importance and meaning to origin when a food product is more processed (Luomala, 2007).

U.S. consumer studies conducted by Schupp and Gillespie (2001), Umberger et al. (2003), and the USDA/FSIS (2000) support the findings of Luomala (2007) and Shiv and Fedorikhin's (1999) that the consumers' interest in CoOL of beef is multi-dimensional. U.S. consumers desired CoOL of meat because of food safety concerns regarding imported beef, a desire for more information about the source and origin of their meat, perceptions that domestic beef was of higher quality, fresher and safer than imported beef, a desire to support domestic producers, and a belief that consumers simply have the "right-to-know".

A report by Oxford Evidentia (Davies and MacPherson, 2010) provides a synthesis of the most frequent reasons British consumers' are interested in origin information on food: "preference for buying British/supporting British farmers (34%), food miles/distance food has travelled (17%), prefer to buy locally (17%) (Davies and MacPherson, 2010, p. 8)." A relatively smaller share of consumers (10% or fewer), stated reasons which suggested they associated country-of-origin with quality, safety, freshness or ethical issues (e.g. politics, animal welfare). Therefore, British consumers interest in CoOL is also multi-dimensional.

A study by Watson and Wright (2000) examined the link between ethnocentrism and New Zealand consumers' preference for products from countries which share cultural characteristics when consumers have no domestic alterative for the product in question. In their study of 421 New Zealand consumers, they found that when domestic products were available, ethnocentric consumers preferred the domestic alternative followed by the alternatives from the culturally similar countries. Ethnocentric consumers preferred electronic products from culturally similar countries (Germany and the U.S.) over those from dissimilar countries (Italy and Singapore).

There are no known published studies in the country-of-origin literature which explain whether cognitive, affective or normative reasons are more likely to motivate Australian consumers' interest in having country of origin information provided on their food products. Only one study, Coveney (2007), specifically examined the role of origin in Australian consumers' perceptions of food quality. In his study of South Australian consumers, Coveney (2007) found that labelling food products with a "Made in Australia" logo would generate significant consumer trust with respect to the safety of the food product because respondents in the study were generally satisfied with the Australian food standards relative to those in other countries. "Asia in particular was regarded to be a source of foods that might not come up to safety standards and therefore did not warrant trust (Coveney, 2007, p. 241)."

Consumers use a combination of intrinsic and extrinsic cues to form quality expectations. As Grunert (2006) and Umberger et al. (2009a and 2009b) point out, consumers are increasingly using extrinsic cues to form perceptions about quality. If consumers use country-of-origin cognitively to predict quality and/or gain confidence in their food, then providing them with origin information is very important. If country-of-origin information is not provided, consumers may be less able to predict the quality of the beef and meat or simply they may feel less confident in their ability to make choices. It is possible that they avoid purchasing certain meat products entirely. Consequently, the literature reviewed above supports the notion that if country-of-origin information is used by consumers and it is not available to consumers, there are issues of market failure, specifically related to asymmetric information or even public goods. The following section further supports the notion that at least some Australian consumers do use country-of-origin information when making food purchase decisions.

Awareness, Use and Understanding of Country-of-Origin Labels on Food

We are aware of five studies which assess at least one aspect of Australian consumers' awareness, use and understanding of country of origin labelling with respect to food and meat products (FSANZ, 2003; FSANZ, 2007; Umberger and Mueller, 2010, Ware and Varigos, 2006a and 2006b). The Australian-relevant results of these studies are highlighted in the three italicized sections beginning on the following page, but first, brief overviews of the methodologies used in each study are provided.

Methodological Overview of Australian Awareness, Use and Understanding Studies

In 2002, NFO Donovan Research was commissioned by Food Standards Australia New Zealand (FSANZ) to conduct a quantitative baseline study of Australian and New Zealand consumers. The study was conducted in August and September, 2002 via door-to-door interviews of 1940 consumers in cities throughout Australia and New Zealand. This study, cited as FSANZ 2003, is the most comprehensive study of Australian and New Zealand consumers' general *awareness*, *use* and *understanding* of multiple food elements.

In February 2006, TNS Social Research consultants (TNS) conducted surveys to address industry concerns related to a specific section of CoOL Standard 1.2.11 regarding products sold in chilled, glass-fronted delicatessen and seafood retail display cases. This study is referred to as Ware and Varigos 2006a. Food retailers were alarmed about two aspects of the Standard: 1) the more extensive requirements of Standard 1.2.11 stipulating all unpackaged products in delicatessen and seafood cases display country-of-origin information, and 2) the increase in font size to 9 mm from the previously allowed 5mm or 2.5 mm font sizes. They believed these new requirements would be overly burdensome and costly due to the required upgrades of ticket counters, and they contended the changes would make food purchasing decisions more difficult for consumers due to diminished space available for displaying products and describing other attributes of the product. Consumers (n=106) were intercepted and interviewed at seafood and deli counters at a large Melbourne food retailer. Respondents were shown deli cases that contained products with country-of-origin information displayed using the relevant font sizes. They were asked whether the 9 mm font size impacted their ability to visually evaluate the product and their ability to read the country-of-origin and price information. Consumers were also asked to indicate the importance of knowing the country that food in the deli and seafood sections of the supermarket was made and to rank the importance of product appearance, price and knowing where the product come from when purchasing ham from the deli/seafood section of the supermarket.

A second phase of the Ware and Varigos 2006a study was conducted by TNS in Sydney during May 2006. This study is cited as Ware and Varigos 2006b. The methods used in Phase II were similar to Phase I, but this time 200 consumers at a Sydney supermarket seafood and deli counter were surveyed. The 2.5mm font was replaced in the comparison with 3mm font.

A more expansive study conducted by TNS Social Research consultants (TNS) for FSANZ, used quantitative online survey methods to assess Australian (n = 1200) and New Zealand (n = 800) consumers' attitudes, behaviour and confidence with respect to their food supply

(FSANZ, 2008). However, this study (cited as FSANZ 2008) only assessed consumers' *use* of country-or-origin information when purchasing food.

A recent (unpublished) study by Umberger and Mueller (2010) focused specifically on beef. Umberger and Mueller (2010) included questions to assess consumers' awareness and the relative importance they place on origin. This was only one section of a large online survey designed to gain information on consumer behaviour and preferences with respect to differentiated beef products. The results are based on a representative sample of 1881 Australian beef consumers conducted during mid-2009.

Awareness

When respondents in the FSANZ 2003 study were asked to indicate the type of information that can be found on the food and drinks purchased (unprompted awareness), 17% indicated they were aware of country-of-origin information. Country-of-origin was the fourth most frequently mentioned labelling element compared to ingredients (49%), nutrition information panel (NIP, 40%), use by date/ date mark (25%) and fat content (17%). The FSANZ 2003 respondents were shown 16 pictures of different types of information found on food packaging/ labels and asked to indicate which ones they recognised (prompted awareness). Date mark (93%), ingredients list (89%) and NIP (86%) were recognized by a relatively larger share of respondents compared to 80%, 70% and 65% recognizing country-of-origin information, nutrient claims and preparation/ storage instructions (65%) (FSANZ, 2003).

Umberger and Mueller (2010) asked respondents to indicate what type of origin information they were usually aware of or provided with when purchasing beef products. Respondents were asked to tick all options that were applicable (prompted awareness). The attribute list included: 'country-of-origin', 'state-of-origin', 'region-of-origin', 'farm-of-origin', or 'I am generally NOT aware of the origin'. Interestingly, only 23% of consumers indicated they are aware of the origin of their beef, even though country-of-origin is required to be indicated on packaged beef products sold in supermarkets. In fact, the majority of consumers (64%) indicated they are generally *not* aware of the origin of their beef.

Use of Country of Origin Information

Respondents in the FSANZ 2003 study were also asked to consider 15 labelling elements and indicate which ones they used when making food purchase decisions (even if they used the information only occasionally). Country-of-origin information was used by 49% of the respondents, which again is the fourth highest share of respondents, compared to date mark (85%), ingredients list (66%) and NIP (66%). Respondents were also asked to indicate the three elements they used most when purchasing food and again country-of-origin was the fourth most frequently noted labelling element with only 19% of respondents using country-of-origin most, compared to 68% using date mark, 52% using NIP, and 49% using ingredients list most frequently (FSANZ, 2003). A drawback of this FSANZ 2003 study is that it focuses only on food labelling elements and does not compare these to relevant product attributes such as price, brand or quality. It is likely that inclusion of this information would change the relative use of country-of-origin.

Respondents in the FSANZ 2008 study were asked to consider a list of 32 information options (including an 'other' and 'none' option) and to indicate what particular information they looked for when purchasing a food product for the first time. Country-of-origin (59%) had the third highest proportion of Australian respondents indicating usage, compared to use by date (73%) and amount of fat (62%). Sugar content (57%), ingredients list (53%), and saturated fat (50%) were also listed by at least 50% of the respondents. A significantly larger proportion of Australians looked for country-of-origin information than New Zealand consumers (only 43%). Like the FSANZ 2003 study, this study only examined labelling elements, not other potentially important food product attributes such as price or other quality indicators.

Consumers in the Ware and Varigos (2006a) study were asked directly to indicate the importance of the font size used in the country-of-origin label /information when viewing products in chilled delicatessen cabinets. Roughly three-quarters (74%) indicated the font size was 'quite important' to 'very important' in their ability to evaluate products in the deli cabinet and make purchase decisions. Yet, the majority of respondents, 97%, 98% and 75%, stated that they were able to identify the country-of-origin information when the 9 mm, 5 mm and 2.5 mm fonts were used on the country-of-origin labels, respectively. Interestingly, onethird of consumers stated that the 9mm font restricted the ability to view the product, versus only 2% and 5% for the 5mm and 2.5mm, respectively. Compared to Phase I (33%), a higher share of Sydney consumers (50%) stated that the 9mm font restricted the ability to view the products in the deli and seafood cases. However, 45% of respondents preferred the 9mm font the most, compared to 37% and 18% indicating that the 5mm and 3mm font were, respectively their most preferred font sizes for CoOL. Respondents were asked to indicate the desirability of retail cabinets which used the different font sizes – the cabinet with the 5mm font was rated as 'most desirable' by the largest share of respondents (Ware and Varigos, 2006b).

Finally, when Melbourne consumers in Ware and Varigos (2006a) were asked if the proposed change to CoOL would make choosing deli items easier, and if it would alter the way they shopped for food in the deli/seafood section of the supermarket, 76% and 62%, respectively indicated that 'yes', CoOL would impact their shopping behaviour. Although the results of these two Ware and Varigos studies are not specifically related to whether or not consumers "use" CoOL they do shed light on the importance that the design of label information can have on consumers' ability to use the information.

Consumers' Understanding and Knowledge of CoOL Information

In the FSANZ 2003 study respondents were asked to rate the clarity ('clear', 'fairly clear' and 'not very clear') of food labelling elements. Country-of-origin information had the second highest proportion (19%) of respondents stating that the information was 'not very clear'. Only GMO declaration had a higher proportion of respondents (29%) indicating the information was 'not very clear'. However, only 4% of respondents indicated that they were '…suspicious of imported products/foreign language' (FSANZ, 2003, p. 17).

To examine if consumers could interpret the meaning of various types of country of origin information, respondents in the FSANZ 2003 study were shown three types of labels: 1)

'made in...', 2) 'product of...', 3) and 'made from Australian/New Zealand ingredients'. Sixty percent of respondents correctly identified that the 'product of...' label would contain the most Australian or New Zealand ingredients, whereas 31% and 3% of consumers incorrectly indicated the 'made in...' and 'made from...' would contain the highest share of domestic ingredients. It is interesting to note that a significantly larger share of New Zealand respondents incorrectly selected the 'made in...' label compared to Australian consumers (37% of New Zealanders versus 27% of Australians). This could be related to the fact that fewer food products in New Zealand are required to carry country of origin labels (FSANZ, 2003).

Relative Importance and Preferences for Country-of-Origin Labels: Food and Meat

Several studies, including the Umberger and Mueller (2010) beef study discussed in the previous section, have examined consumers' preferences for country-of-origin information as well as the *relative importance* that consumers place on origin information in food purchase decisions versus other types of labeling information or information about food attributes.

It is important to note that as Verlegh and Steenkamp (1999) found in their meta-analysis of country-of-origin labeling in the business and marketing literature that the relative importance of origin tends to be significantly smaller in studies comparing origin to other potentially important quality cues versus focusing solely on origin. A recent study by Gao and Schroeder (2009) also found that the relative importance and value of country-of-origin information to U.S. consumers when purchasing beef varies depending on the attributes considered in the evaluation exercise and the interrelationship of the attributes.

The relative importance and value of origin information in meat purchases also has been shown to vary across purchase locations (e.g. supermarkets versus restaurants) and countries. For example, European consumers in a study by Alfnes (2004) indicated that country-of-origin was important for beef purchased in grocery stores /supermarkets, but it was not important for beef purchased at restaurants.

Roosen et al. (2003) studied the relative importance and value that European consumers place on origin versus price, brand, colour, marbling or fat content when making beef choices. They found that origin was relatively more important than other attributes to French and German consumers, but for U.K. consumers, price, colour and fat content were more important than CoOL.

In a study by Umberger et al. (2003) U.S. consumers rated freshness, food safety inspection, colour, price, and leanness as the five most important attributes when purchasing beef. Country-of-origin information was rated as more important than environmentally friendly production methods, organic/natural production, and local production; however, its average rating score was only the ninth highest considering the 17 attributes evaluated. In two different U.S. consumer studies, Loureiro and Umberger (2003 and 2007) found origin information to be of similar relative importance in consumers' beef purchasing behaviour when considering various intrinsic and extrinsic attributes.

Umberger et al. (2003) and Ehmke et al. (2008) both provide further extensive literature reviews of various other international (non-Australian) studies involving the relative importance consumers place on country-of-origin when making meat and other food purchasing decisions. Additionally, the Reference section of this report provides citations for other literature. The following paragraphs focus only on studies which examined *Australian* consumers' preferences.

Jocumsen (2005) conducted consumer focus groups in Brisbane, Canberra, Melbourne and Toowoomba and then surveyed 234 consumers at shopping malls in Brisbane and Toowoomba to determine the relative importance of intrinsic cues (e.g. colour, fat, marbling) versus extrinsic cues (price, label information) to consumers when formulating perceptions of beef quality. Jocumsen (2005) found that consumers perceive that intrinsic cues (freshness, leanness, colour and marbling) provide more information on beef quality than extrinsic cues (place of purchase, country-of-origin, packaging, and brand). On average, consumers ranked country-of-origin as the third most important attribute after freshness, leanness, colour, marbling/fat and presentation when forming quality expectations. Origin was of equal importance to price, place of purchase, quality assurance labels, and packaging. Feeding methods and brand were least important.

To gain an understanding of consumers' awareness of and the relative importance of country-of-origin labels on retail food products, Miranda and Konya (2006) surveyed 473 Melbourne consumers as they exited a Safeway supermarket. Respondents were asked to indicate whether they generally paid attention to the 'country of manufacture' on product labels. Results from a binary logit regression model indicate that awareness of country-of-origin is one of eight important factors impacting purchase decisions for the respondents. Brand recognition and freshness were estimated to be relatively more important than country-of-origin in consumers' food choices.

To determine the relative importance of labeling country-of-origin to Australian consumers, respondents in the Ware and Varigos (2006a) study (discussed in the previous section) were asked to *rate* how important it is to '...to know from which country the food in the deli and seafood section of the supermarket was made?', 72% rated CoOL to be 'quite important' or 'very important'. Interestingly, CoOL was rated as 'quite important' or 'very important' by a larger share of consumers who were 55 years of age and older (82%). However, when consumers were asked to *rank* the importance of three product attributes: appearance, price and knowing the origin of the product to them when purchasing ham from the deli/seafood section (assuming comparable product quality), only 49% ranked origin as most or second-most important compared to 63% for price and 87% for product appearance. Clearly origin is relatively less important than the other product attributes when considering consumers' purchases of ham from the deli section of the supermarket.

Compared to Melbourne consumers, slightly fewer Sydney consumers (69% versus 72% in Melbourne) indicated that it was 'quite' to 'very' important for them to "...know from which country food in the deli and seafood section of the supermarket was made". In terms of relative importance, Sydney consumers also placed origin information at a relatively lower level of importance compared to product appearance and price – even when additional

attributes (e.g. frozen, whether the product was on 'special') were included in the comparison (Ware and Varigos, 2006b).

Umberger and Mueller (2010) asked respondents to consider a list of 22 beef attributes and to indicate the 'most important' attribute as well as any other attributes that they may also consider when purchasing a beef steak for consumption at home. Only 8% of respondents considered Australian country-of-origin to be the most important attribute, but 30% indicated that they did consider whether the product was Australian country-of-origin when they were purchasing beef steaks. A higher share of consumers indicated price (23%), cut (13%), use-by-date (9%), lean/fat content (9%), and budget /discounted price (8%) were the most important attributes. It is important to note that this study focused specifically on Australian origin and does not ask more generally about country-of-origin. Therefore it is unknown if consumers are more likely to consider origin in general.

Estimating Consumers' Willingness-to-Pay for Origin Information in Food and Meat

Background on Economic Valuation Studies

Food labelling policy alternatives are often compared through welfare analysis which involves a Cost-Benefit Analysis (CBA) which estimates of both the economic costs imposed upon society as well as the potential economic benefits gained by society as a result of providing information. For example, in 2006 FSANZ commissioned a cost-benefit analysis to determine the feasibility of extending the existing country-of-origin labelling provision to include packaged foods which contain two or less fruits and/or vegetables and no other major ingredients.

The FSANZ feasibility study (FSANZ, 2006 and CIE, 2006) suggested that consumers would need to be willing to pay an additional 2.7% on average for processed fruits and vegetables to cover the estimated \$80 to \$160 million a year loss in national income that was predicted to occur if the CoOL provision was extended to include processed horticultural products. Unfortunately this study did not provide estimates of social benefits resulting from the proposed CoOL change. In fact, no known empirical studies have been conducted in Australia specifically to estimate the economic benefits of CoOL of food and/or meat.

Establishing estimates of the social benefits of new or proposed food labelling regulations is relatively challenging. This is due to the fact that 1) consumers tend to be heterogeneous in their utility for food labelling information and some consumers may value the information positively while others will discount the information or not value it at all, 2) it is difficult for consumers to articulate the value of food labelling information, 3) consumers may value the information, but it does not affect their purchasing behaviour (e.g. demand does not change), 4) the distribution of value through the value chain is ambiguous (Crespi and Marette, 2001).

Estimating consumers' value for specific product attributes or information is a particularly difficult task if the product attribute or information being assessed is non-utilitarian, abstract, requires a sensory experience, is misunderstood and/or is used subconsciously (Lusk and Anderson, 2004; Lusk et al., 2005; Fitzsimons et al., 2002). All of these characteristics may apply when assessing consumers' utility for country-of-origin information with respect to

meat products. Furthermore, some consumers believe that origin information should be provided free of charge – or that it is their "right to know" where their food comes from – therefore, it is difficult for them to establish a value (Lusk et al., 2005; Umberger et al., 2003; Umberger and Mueller, 2010).

The willingness-to-pay (WTP) approach to estimating value is typically used by economists to understand the impact of different information on consumers' utility function because it is based on the well-grounded welfare economics theory. The following sections provide an overview of the main methods and approaches used to assess consumers' willingness-to-pay for labelling information.

Issues with estimating Willingness-to-Pay for CoOL

In order to fully understand the benefits of new information to society, it is important to be able to estimate the *value* individual consumers place on having access to this information. Consumers will value information, such as country-of-origin labelling, if it increases their welfare or utility (Caswell, 1995 and 1998; Crespi and Marette, 2001; Krissoff et al., 2004).

Estimating consumer preferences and WTP for a complex attribute such as origin labelling is an arduous task because WTP estimates can be influenced by a number of experimental or study design factors, including (Gao and Schroeder, 2009; Lusk and Shogren, 2007):

- the methods used (e.g. stated versus revealed preferences, direct versus indirect);
- the context, framing and/ or presentation of attributes (e.g. information about attributes; number, combination and types of attributes, verbal versus visual presentation of attributes);
- the products being studied (e.g. meat versus wine versus electronics); and
- the sample studied (representativeness of the sample compared to the sociodemographics, attitudes and behaviour of the population in question).

Therefore, when conducting research to elicit willingness-to-pay results, it is important to understand how the methodology used can affect the WTP results estimated. Caution must be exercised when considering whether WTP estimates would actually hold up in the marketplace. The following section highlights the primary differences between stated and revealed preference methods and discusses the pros and cons of both methods. This is followed by a thorough literature review of studies which have estimated U.S. consumers' willingness to pay for CoOL in meat and beef. This section is designed to illustrate how WTP estimates can vary dramatically as a result of all four design factors mentioned above.

Stated versus Revealed Preference Methods for Measuring Willingness-to-Pay

As mentioned above, one issue with estimating WTP values is that the estimates can be affected by the valuation methodology used. Specific methodological issues include: 1) whether the willingness to pay values are elicited using stated preference or revealed preferences methods, and 2) whether the experiment is binding or hypothetical in nature.

Stated preference methods are usually considered to be the most hypothetical estimates and include contingent valuation methods (CVM). In CVM consumers are asked *directly* how much they would be willing to pay to obtain origin information, or whether they would be willing to pay a premium for a product labelled with a specific origin (e.g. Certified Australian, "Product of Australia"). CVMs also include dichotomous choice questions where consumers are asked to indicate "yes" or "no" if they would be willing to pay a specific premium for a product labelled with specific information compared to an unlabelled product, as well as payment card methods where consumers indicated the most they would be willing to pay for information or to obtain a product labelled with specific information (Cummings et al., 1995, 1997; Hanemann, 1994; List and Gallet, 2001)

Cummings et al. (1995 and 1997) and List and Gallet (2001) address the issues related to hypothetical bias and CVM results as compared to actual purchasing behavior. Collectively they conclude that the WTP values for private goods (e.g. food products) estimated using CVMs are upwards biased, but the bias is generally smaller than previously suggested by Arrow et al. (1991). Furthermore, studies by Haab et al. (1999) and Loomis (1993) demonstrate that stated preferences correspond relatively well with actual market behavior.

Revealed preference methods (RPMs) are less hypothetical. In the strictest case they are non-hypothetical as they can involve consumers participating in binding market transactions. This methodology often involves the hedonic analysis of actual market data (e.g. retail scanner data). Unfortunately, when researchers are attempting to estimate consumer utility for information or products which may not currently exist in the market (e.g. changes in food labelling policy), eliciting non-hypothetical or actual preferences and/ or willingness-to-pay becomes difficult or impossible.

When market data does not exist, experimental methods (e.g. laboratory experiments, field experiments or experimental auctions) are an alternate RPM now frequently used to estimate WTP. Experimental auctions methods are well-established in the literature. Different types of experimental auctions such as the Vickrey *n*th price auction, random *n*th price auction and the Becker, DeGroot, Marschak (BDM) mechanism are considered to be less hypothetical, incentive compatible elicitation mechanisms in that they provide consumers with incentives to encourage them to reveal their actual preferences or willingness-to-pay. Lusk and Shogren (2007) discuss the pros and cons of each of these auction methods and the fact that the "right" elicitation mechanism depends on the research objectives and the budget available to conduct the research.

Experimental auctions tend to be relatively expensive compared to CVM because researchers are required to compensate participants for their time and to provide product for the participants to bid on. Furthermore, as Lusk et al. (2007), Lusk and Shogren (2007) and Umberger and Feuz (2004) point out, experimental design issues (e.g. auction type, endowment effect, number of panel participants) will affect WTP estimates.

Recently, there have been dramatic advancements in the stated preference methods available for measuring WTP which allow consumer preferences and WTP to be estimated *indirectly* through choice-based conjoint experiments and analysis using discrete choice experiments (DCEs). DCEs are becoming an increasingly popular alternative elicitation mechanism to

CVMs. DCEs are often preferred over direct measures because relative WTP values for multiple product attributes can be estimated simultaneously.

DCEs have also been shown to be relatively accurate at predicting consumers' actual market behavior (Lusk and Schroeder, 2004; Louviere, Hensher and Swait, 2000). Choice sets used in DCEs can be framed to closely resemble actual purchasing scenarios where consumers must choose from a set of products with different attributes. DCEs are consistent with random utility theory which assumes that the utility a consumer derives from a good is a function of the multiple attributes of the good.

DCEs are not without fault – the WTP estimates from DCEs have been shown to be affected by design dimensions including the number of choice sets, and the number, level, framing and combination of attributes (Gao and Schroeder, 2009; Hensher, 2006; Hensher et al., 2005; Islam et al., 2007; Umberger and Mueller, 2007).

Willingness-to-Pay Estimates and the Impact of Methods and Design: U.S. Consumers' Willingness-to-Pay for CoOL of Meat

Consumer willingness to pay for country-of-origin labelling of meat has been examined through several studies conducted in the United States. Umberger et al. (2002) used experimental auctions and found that U.S. consumers were willing to pay a significant premium of US\$0.70/pound for U.S. corn-fed beef relative to grass-fed beef from Argentina. This study is frequently cited in the literature as evidence that U.S. consumers are willing-to-pay for country-of-origin information. In actuality, because consumers only bid on the steaks after blind taste tests, the study does not indicate whether consumers would actually value the origin information when making purchasing decisions. Rather the study only shows that U.S. consumers can discern differences in flavour and "experience" quality and are willing to pay a premium to obtain a beef product that they believe is more palatable or higher quality.

In 2002, Loureiro and Umberger conducted the first known study to examine whether U.S. consumers value CoOL of meat (Loureiro and Umberger, 2003). CVM methods were used to estimate consumers' WTP for steak and hamburger (mince) products that were labelled with a specific domestic country of origin, "Certified U.S.", compared to products with no origin information. The sample (n =243) was obtained through in-person interviews of consumers at supermarkets in Colorado (a U.S. state). Loureiro and Umberger (2003) found U.S. consumers were willing-to-pay premiums of 38% and 58% for "Certified U.S." steak and hamburger. Additionally, Loureiro and Umberger (2003) found the Colorado sample of consumers was willing to pay an average of \$184/per annum/ household to have a mandatory country-of-origin labelling program.

Another study conducted in 2002 by Umberger et al. (2003) examined Chicago, Illinois and Denver, Colorado consumers' WTP using both CVM and experimental auction procedures. The results of the CVM portion of the study suggested that the majority of consumers (73%) would be willing to pay an average premium of 11% and 24% to have steak and hamburger labelled with country-of-origin. Yet when the same consumers participated in a non-hypothetical experimental auction and bid on both an unlabelled steaks and an identical steak labelled as "U.S.A. Guaranteed", the consumers were willing to pay an average premium of

19% for the steak labelled with domestic country-of-origin. The consumers indicated cognitive (e.g. a preference for the general information provided by the label, food safety concerns related to imported meat), affective (e.g. a belief that the quality of meat from certain countries was higher) and normative reasons (e.g. a desire to support US producers) for valuing country-of-origin information.

A third, more expansive study conducted in 2003 surveyed a representative sample of U.S. households via mail and used both CVM and DCE methods to elicit WTP for country-oforigin information in meat (Loureiro and Umberger, 2005 and 2007). The first part of the survey used CVM methods similar to Loureiro and Umberger (2003) to estimate premiums for three meat products: beef steaks, pork chops and chicken breasts, labelled as "Certified U.S.". They found consumers were willing to pay premiums of approximately 2.5% for pork and poultry and 2.9% for beef that was "Certified U.S.". Although the WTP values were estimated using similar methods to Loureiro and Umberger (2003) and Umberger et al. (2003), the premiums for "Certified U.S." found in this continental U.S. study are substantially lower. The analysis of consumers' responses to the DCE, which compared consumers WTP for country-of-origin labelling relative to food safety inspection, traceability and tenderness guarantees indicated that consumers were willing to pay the largest premium (US\$ 8.07/pound) for USDA food safety inspected followed by country-of-origin labelled (US\$2.57/pound). The premium for country-of-origin information was about 1.35 times higher than the premium for "traceable to the farm" and 2.7 times higher than for "guaranteed tender" (Loureiro and Umberger, 2007).

Key Considerations when Evaluating Consumer WTP Values for Country-of-Origin Information

The breadth of U.S. consumer research related to country-of-origin allows us to demonstrate how WTP estimates can be affected by methodological and design issues. Note the following:

- a. Origin information is an extrinsic credence attribute, therefore the only way to measure the importance or value of origin information to consumers is through simulated shopping experiences where information is presented to consumers in a realistic purchase scenario not through blind taste testing alone (e.g. Umberger et al., 2002 used blind taste tests only).
- b. The estimated WTP values for "Certified U.S." decrease dramatically when the sample becomes more geographically representative even though similar valuation methods are used. For example, consider the values estimated through three studies which used similar contingent valuation (CV) methods, but different samples:
 - 38% and 58% premium for "Certified U.S." steak and hamburger, respectively, estimated by Loureiro and Umberger (2003) with a Colorado only sample;
 - 11% and 24% premium for "Certified U.S." steak and hamburger, respectively, estimated by Umberger et al. (2003) with a Colorado and Illinois sample;
 - Approximately 3% premium for "Certified U.S." steak estimated by Loureiro and Umberger, 2005 with a U.S. sample;

- c. The value for country-of-origin information is *product specific* even within a product category (e.g. meat). For example, the value for country-of-origin information on steak was lower than for hamburger/ mince in both the Loureiro and Umberger (2003) and Umberger et al. (2003) studies. The values differed across beef, pork and poultry in the Loureiro and Umberger (2005) study.
- d. The value for country-of-origin information is context dependent. In other words, the value consumers place on origin information depends on what other quality cues are present and the interrelationship of the cues. For example, some consumers use origin as a proxy for food safety or eating quality. If additional cues are provided which consumers also used to form safety and quality perceptions then the value of country of origin information will change.
 - E.g. Loureiro and Umberger (2005 and 2007) found consumers were willing to pay more for safety guarantees than country of origin information, but they valued country of origin relatively more than "traceable to the farm" or "guaranteed tender".

Australian Consumers' Willingness-to-Pay for Country of Origin Information

Appendix A.1 includes approximately 20 published studies that examine some aspect of consumers' willingness-to-pay for origin labelling. Appendix A.2 includes a summary table highlighting the information about each of these studies, including the country where the study was conducted, methodology (e.g. CVM, DCE, experimental auctions) and the WTP values estimated. Unfortunately, only three of these studies explore Australian consumers' value and willingness to pay for country-of-origin (Mueller et al., 2009; Umberger and Mueller, 2010 and Ware and Varigos, 2006b). The following section provides a brief summary of these three studies.

The Ware and Varigos (2006b) study discussed in previous sections asked Sydney consumers "How much extra would you be willing to pay, if anything, to purchase a \$10 item from your most preferred deli cabinet compared with your second most preferred cabinet?" The cabinets differed only in how the country of origin information was provided (font size differed). This method of assessing willingness-to-pay is not well-established in the literature and it is an awkward method for assessing the value for COOL, therefore it is not surprising that approximately 90% or respondents were not willing to pay any premium to purchase based on font size (Ware and Varigos, 2006b).

In 2008, Mueller et al. (2009) conducted a DCE with 1,146 Australian seafood consumers to determine the relative importance and value they place on origin (Australian, Spencer Gulf, Thailand and China), health claims, environmental claims, production methods and freshness when purchasing prawns. They interviewed a representative sample of Australian consumers using an online panel provider to recruit respondents. Considering the aggregate sample, origin was the most important determinant of their choice (65%) followed by price (24%), freshness (11%), health claim and environmental claims (<1%). Over 60% of consumers clearly preferred the prawns labelled with Australian or Spencer Gulf origin over those from Thailand or China.

Mueller et al. (2009) unfortunately do not provide estimates of WTP for country-of-origin, rather they simply show how origin is the most important determinant of Australian consumers' prawn purchase choice and that domestic origin increases consumers WTP. It is important to note that the product examined and the "context" of the study may have impacted the relative importance of origin in this study. First, Mueller et al. (2009) studied prawns /seafood - currently a large share of prawns marketing in Australia are imported and this aspect of the prawn industry has received substantial media attention. The relative share of imports versus domestic product differs across meat categories (e.g. beef versus pork). Relatively little beef, for example, is imported. Secondly, the countries and region considered in the study (Australia, Spencer Gulf, Thailand and China) may have increased the value that Australian consumers place on domestic origin and Spencer Gulf prawns relative to Thailand or China prawns. For example, as Coveney (2007) showed, Australians have safety concerns about food products originating from Asia. If the Mueller et al. (2009) study compared domestic origin products to imported prawns from countries which Australians might trust more (e.g. Europe) then the relative importance of origin may be lowered.

A recent unpublished study by Umberger and Mueller (2010) used DCEs to examine a representative sample of 1881 Australian consumers' preferences and willingness-to-pay for a large number of intrinsic and extrinsic quality attributes in beef. Digital graphical enhancement techniques were employed to alter intrinsic steak product attributes and labeling information of interest and still simulate a realistic looking retail beef product. The price and non-price attributes and levels included in the DCE were chosen after conducting a substantial literature review, consumer focus groups, and interviews with numerous industry leaders. Intrinsic attributes included marbling (4 levels) and external fat trim (4 levels). Non-price, extrinsic attributes included: brands (national and regional), health (Heart Foundation Approved tick), forage (grass-finished, grain-finished), production (hormone and antibiotic free, environmentally sustainable, certified humane) and quality/safety certifications including Meat Standards Australia (MSA) and Australian-origin certified. On

Considering the aggregate sample of Australian consumers, country-of-origin was not a significant determinant of consumers' beef steak choices. Interestingly, compared to U.S. and European consumers, the Australian consumers in this study were willing to pay relatively small premiums for extrinsic credence attributes. In fact, for Australian consumers, intrinsic attributes are found to play an important a role in consumers' beef purchasing decisions relative to extrinsic cues. Only 17% of consumers placed a statistically significant value on Australian certified beef and the premiums were less than 2%. This small segment of consumers was older (over 50) than the sample average and expressed higher levels of concerns about their available supplies of beef being inconsistent quality. Although country-of-origin was a significant determinant in their choices of beef steaks, price (very price sensitive), low marbling and low fat trim were much more important factors in their choices. However, this segment of consumers does appear to use country-of-origin cognitively to predict quality (Umberger and Mueller, 2010).

Therefore, the results of this beef study suggest that although other studies have shown that the majority of Australian consumers might desire country-of-origin information, only a

small percent are actually willing to pay a premium for the guarantee of an Australian steak. Unfortunately, this study, like others cited did not directly ask consumers if they are willing to pay to have general country-of-origin information, it simply looked at the role that country-of-origin plays in consumers' beef purchasing decisions and whether consumers value Australian beef more than generic. Further research is required to gain a more thorough understanding of consumers actual WTP for origin information in meat purchases.

Reference List (by Section and Alphabetical)

Introduction and Background

- Carter, C., B. Krissoff, and A. Peterson Zwane. 2006. "Can Country of Origin Labeling Succeed as a Marketing Tool for Produce? Lessons from Three Case Studies." *Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics*. 54(4):513-530.
- Crespi, J.M. and S. Marette. 2001. "How Should Food Safety Certification Be Financed?" *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*. 83(4):852-61.
- Davies, P. and K. MacPherson. 2010. "Country of Origin Labelling: A Synthesis of Research." Oxford Evidentia. Social Science Research Unit, Food Standards Agency. Unit Summary 7.
- Loureiro, M.L. and W.J. Umberger. 2007. "A Choice Experiment Model for Beef: What US Consumer Responses Tell Us About Relative Preferences for Food Safety, Country-of-Origin Labeling and Traceability." *Food Policy*. 32(4):496-514.
- Lusk, J.L., J. Brown, T. Mark, I. Proseku, R. Thomson, J. Welsh. 2006. "Consumer behavior and country of origin labeling." *Review of Agricultural Economics*. 28:284-292.
- Priestley, M. 2005. "Country of Origin Labelling: Are Consumers Willing to Pay More for Australian Products." *Research Note no. 8. ISSN 1449-8456.*

Mandatory versus Voluntary Food Labelling Programs and Country-of-Origin

- CIE, Centre for International Economics. 2006. "Feasibility of Extending CoOL: A benefit cost analysis. Report Prepared for Food Standards Australia New Zealand. February. Available online at http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/_srcfiles/CoOL%20BCA%2017%20Feb%202006.p df
- Carter, C., B. Krissoff, and A. Peterson Zwane. 2006. "Can Country of Origin Labeling Succeed as a Marketing Tool for Produce? Lessons from Three Case Studies." *Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics*. 54(4):513-530.
- Davies, P. and K. MacPherson. 2010. "Country of Origin Labelling: A Synthesis of Research." Oxford Evidentia. Social Science Research Unit, Food Standards Agency. Unit Summary 7.
- Umberger, W.J. 2004. "Will Consumers Pay a Premium for Country-of-Origin Labeled Meat?" *Choices*. 19(4):15-20.
- Umberger, W.J., D.M. Feuz, C.R. Calkins, and B.M. Sitz. 2003. "Country-of-Origin Labeling of Beef Products: U.S. Consumers' Perceptions. *Journal of Food Distribution Research*. 34(3):103-116.

The Case for Government Intervention in Food Labelling

- Caswell, J. A. 1998. "How Labeling of Safety and Process Attributes Affects Markets for Food." Agricultural and Resource Economics Review. 27(October):151–158.
- Caswell, J. A. and E. M. Mojduszda. 1996. "Using Informational Labeling to Influence the Market for Quality in Food Products." *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*. 78(5):1248–1253.
- Caswell, J. A. and D. I. Padberg. 1992. "Toward a More Comprehensive Theory of Food Labels." *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*. 74(3):461–468.
- Darby, M. R. and E. Karni. 1973. "Free Competition and the Optimal Amount of Fraud." *Journal of Law and Economics* 16(1):67–68.
- Golan, E., F. Kuchler, L. Mitchel, C. Greene and A. Jessup. 2001. "Economics of Food Labeling." *Journal of Consumer Policy*. 24:117-184.
- Grunert, K.G. 1997. "What's in a steak? A cross cultural study on the quality perception of Beef." *Food Quality and Preference* 8:157–174.
- McCluskey, J.J. 2000. "A Game Theoretic Approach to Organic Foods: An analysis of Asymmetric Information and Policy." *Agricultural and Resource Economics Review* 29 (1):1-9.
- Umberger, W.J. 2004. "Will Consumers Pay a Premium for Country-of-Origin Labeled Meat?" *Choices*. 19(4):15-20.
- Umberger, W.J. 2007. Beef quality, beef demand and consumer preferences, in VanOverbeke, D.L. (ed.), The Handbook of Beef Quality and Safety. The Haworth Press Inc., Binghamton, NY, pp. 187–213.

The Role of Country-of-Origin in Consumers' Meat Purchase Decisions

- Coveney, J. 2007. "Food and Trust in Australia: Building a Picture." *Public Health Nutrition*. 11(3):237-245.
- Davies, P. and K. MacPherson. 2010. "Country of Origin Labelling: A Synthesis of Research." Oxford Evidentia. Social Science Research Unit, Food Standards Agency. Unit Summary 7.
- Ehmke, M.D., J.L. Lusk, and W. Tyner. 2008. "Measuring the Relative Importance of Preferences for Country of Origin in China, France, Niger, and the United States." *Agricultural Economics*. 38(3):277-285.
- Grunert, K.G. 2006. "Future trends and consumer lifestyles with regard to meat consumption." *Meat Science* 74,1:149-160.
- Luomala, H.T. 2007. "Exploring the Role of Food Origin as a Source of Meanings for Consumers and as a Determinant of Consumers' Actual Food Choices." *Journal of Business Research*. 60(2):122-129.

- Shimp, T.A. and S. Sharma. 1987. "Consumer ethnocentrism: construction and validation of the CETSCALE." *Journal of Marketing Research*. 24:280–289.
- Shiv, B. and A. Fedorikhin. 1999. "Heart and mind in conflict: the interplay of affect and cognition in consumer decision making." *Journal of Consumer Research*. 26 (3):278–92.
- Umberger, W.J., P.C. Boxall, & R.C. Lacy. 2009a. "Role of credence and health information in determining US consumers' willingness-to-pay for grass-finished beef." *Australian Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics*. 53:603–623.
- Umberger, W.J., D. Thilmany McFadden, & A.R. Smith. 2009b. "Does Altruism Play a Role in Determining U.S. Consumer Preferences and Willingness to Pay for Natural and Regionally Produced Beef?" *Agribusiness: An International Journal*. 25(2 Spring):268-285.
- Verlegh, P.W.J. and K. van Ittersum. 2001. "The Origin of the Spices: The Impact of Geographic Product Origin on Consumer Decision Making," in L. Frewer, E. Risvik and H. Schifferstein (eds.). Food, People and Society. Springer: Berlin, pp. 267–279.
- Verlegh, P.W.J. and J.B.E.M. Steenkamp, 1999. "A review of meta-analysis of country-of-origin research." Journal of Economic Psychology. 20:521–546.
- Watson, J.J. and K. Wright. 2000. "Consumer Ethnocentrism and Attitudes toward Domestic and Foreign Products." *European Journal of Marketing*. 34(9/10):1149-1166.

Awareness, Use and Understanding of Country-of-Origin Labels on Food

- FSANZ, Food Standards Australia New Zealand. 2003. "Food Labelling Issues: Quantitative Research with Consumers." Evaluation Report Series No. 4. Report prepared by NFO Donovan Research.
- FSANZ, Food Standards Australia New Zealand. 2008. "Consumer Attitudes Survey 2007: A benchmark survey of consumers' attitudes to food issues." ISBN 978-0-642-34556-1.
- Umberger, W.J. and S.C. Mueller. 2010. "Is Presentation Everything? Using Visual Presentation of Attributes in Discrete Choice Experiments to Measure the Relative Importance of Intrinsic and Extrinsic Beef Attributes." Selected Paper for the 2010 American Agricultural Economics Association Meetings. Denver, USA.
- Ware, J. and P. Varigos. 2006a. "A study of consumer responses to the legibility and importance of country of origin labeling Phase 1." http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/_srcfiles/A579%20CoOL%20Print%20Size%20Phase%201%20consumer%20research.pdf.
- Ware, J. and P. Varigos. 2006b. "A study of consumer responses to the legibility and importance of country of origin labeling –Phase 2." http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/_srcfiles/A579%20CoOL%20Print%20Size%20Phase%202%20consumer%20research.pdf.

Relative Importance and Preferences for Country-of-Origin Labels on Food and Meat

- Alfnes, F. 2004. "Stated Preferences for Imported and Hormone-Treated Beef: Application of a Mixed Logit Model." *European Review of Agricultural Economics*. 31(1):19-37.
- Ehmke, M.D., J.L. Lusk, and W. Tyner. 2008. "Measuring the Relative Importance of Preferences for Country of Origin in China, France, Niger, and the United States." *Agricultural Economics*. 38(3):277-285.
- Gao, Z. and T.C. Schroeder. 2009. "Effects of Label Information on Consumer Willingness-to-Pay for Food Attributes." *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*. 91(3):795-809.
- Jocumsen, A. 2005. "Assessment of Fresh Beef Quality by Australian Consumers at the Point of Purchase." *ANZMAC 2005 Conference: Consumer Behaviour.* 122-128.
- Loureiro, M.L. and W.J. Umberger. 2003. "Estimating Consumer Willingness to Pay for Country-of-Origin Labeling." *Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics*. 28(2): 287-301.
- Loureiro, M.L. and W.J. Umberger. 2005. "Assessing Consumer Preferences for Country-of-Origin Labeling." *Journal of Agricultural and Applied Economics*. 37(1):49-63.
- Loureiro, M.L. and W.J. Umberger. 2007. "A Choice Experiment Model for Beef: What US Consumer Responses Tell Us About Relative Preferences for Food Safety, Country-of-Origin Labeling and Traceability." *Food Policy*. 32(4):496-514.
- Miranda, M.J. and L. Konya. 2006. "Is Mandatory Country-of-Origin Labelling a Retrograde Step in the Long Run?" *The International Review of Retail, Distribution, and Consumer Research.* 16(5):579-590.
- Roosen, J., J.L Lusk, and J.A. Fox. 2003. "Consumer Demand for and Attitudes Toward Alternative Beef Labeling Strategies in France, Germany, and the UK." *Agribusiness: An International Journal* 19(1):77–90.
- Umberger, W.J. and S.C. Mueller. 2010. "Is Presentation Everything? Using Visual Presentation of Attributes in Discrete Choice Experiments to Measure the Relative Importance of Intrinsic and Extrinsic Beef Attributes." Selected Paper for the 2010 American Agricultural Economics Association Meetings. Denver, USA.
- Umberger, W.J., D.M. Feuz, C.R. Calkins, and B.M. Sitz. 2003. "Country-of-Origin Labeling of Beef Products: U.S. Consumers' Perceptions. *Journal of Food Distribution Research*. 34(3):103-116.
- Verlegh, P.W.J. and J.B.E.M. Steenkamp, 1999. "A review of meta-analysis of country-of-origin research." Journal of Economic Psychology. 20:521–546.
- Ware, J. and P. Varigos. 2006a. "A study of consumer responses to the legibility and importance of country of origin labeling Phase 1." http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/_srcfiles/A579%20CoOL%20Print%20Size%20Phase%201%20consumer%20research.pdf.

Ware, J. and P. Varigos. 2006b. "A study of consumer responses to the legibility and importance of country of origin labeling –Phase 2." http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/_srcfiles/A579%20CoOL%20Print%20Size%20Phase%202%20consumer%20research.pdf.

Estimating Consumers Willingness-to-Pay for Origin Information in Food and Meat

- Arrow, R, J. Solow, P. Portney, E. Learner, R. Radner, and E. H. Schuman. 1993. "Report of the NOAA Panel on Contingent Valuation." *Federal Register* 58(10):4601-14.
- Caswell, J. 1995. Valuing Food Safety and Nutrition. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Caswell, J. A. 1998. "How Labeling of Safety and Process Attributes Affects Markets for Food." Agricultural and Resource Economics Review. 27(October):151–158.
- CIE, Centre for International Economics. 2006. "Feasibility of Extending CoOL: A benefit cost analysis. Report Prepared for Food Standards Australia New Zealand. February. Available online at http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/_srcfiles/CoOL%20BCA%2017%20Feb%202006.pdf.
- Coveney, J. 2007. "Food and Trust in Australia: Building a Picture." *Public Health Nutrition*. 11(3):237-245.
- Crespi, J.M. and S. Marette. 2001. "How Should Food Safety Certification Be Financed?" *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*. 83(4):852-61.
- Cummings, R.G., G.W. Harrison, and E.E. Rutström. 1995. "Homegrown Values and Hypothetical Surveys: Is the Dichotomous Choice Approach Incentive-Compatible?" *American Economic Review* 85(1):260-66.
- Cummings, R.G., S. Elliott, G.W. Harrison, and J. Murphy. 1997. "Are Hypothetical Referenda Incentive Compatible?" *Journal of Political Economy* 105(3):609-21.
- Fitzsimons, G. J., J. W. Hutchinson, P. Williams, J. W. Alba, T. L. Chartrand, J. Huber, F. R. Kardes, G. Menon, P. Raghubir, J. E. Russo, B. Shiv, and N. T. Tavassoli. 2002. "Non-Conscious Influences on Consumer Choice." *Marketing Letters* 13:269-279.
- FSANZ, Food Standards Australia New Zealand. 2006. "Feasibility Study into Extending Country of Origin Labelling to Selected Packaged Fruit or Vegetable Whole Food Produce." 1-55.
- Gao, Z. and Schroeder, T.C. 2009. "Effects of Label Information on Consumer Willingness-to-Pay for Food Attributes." *American Journal of Agricultural Economics* 91(3): 795-809.
- Haab, T.C., J.C. Huang, and J.C., Whitehead. 1999. "Are Hypothetical Referenda Incentive Compatible? A Comment." *Journal of Political Economy* 107(1):186-97.
- Hanemann, W.M. 1994. "Valuing the Environment through Contingent Valuation." *Journal of Economic Perspectives.* 8:45-64.

- Hensher, D.A. 2006. "Revealing Difference in Willingness to Pay due to the Dimensionality of Stated Choice Designs: An Initial Assessment." *Environmental and Resource Economics*. 34:7–44.
- Hensher, D.A., J. Rose, and W.H. Greene. 2005. "The Implications on Willingness to Pay of Respondents Ignoring Specific Attributes." *Transportation*. 32:203–22.
- Islam, T., J.J. Louviere and P.F. Burke. 2007. "Modeling the effects of including/excluding attributes in choice experiments on systematic and random components." *International Journal of Research in Marketing* **24(4)**: 289–300.
- Krissoff, B., F. Kuchler, K. Nelson, J. Perry and A. Somwaru. 2004. Country-of-origin labeling: Theory and observation. USDA Economic Research Service Outlook ReportWRS04-02. Available at http://www.ers.usda.gov/publications/WRS04/jan04/wrs0402/.
- List, J.A., and C.A. Gallet. 2001. "What Experimental Protocol Influence Disparities Between Actual and Hypothetical Stated Values?" *Environmental and Resource Economics*. 20:241-54.
- Loomis, J. 1993. "An Investigation into the Reliability of Intended Visitation Behavior." Environmental and Resource Economics 3(2):183-91.
- Loureiro, M.L. and W.J. Umberger. 2003. "Estimating Consumer Willingness to Pay for Country-of-Origin Labeling." *Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics*. 28(2): 287-301.
- Loureiro, M.L. and W.J. Umberger. 2005. "Assessing Consumer Preferences for Country-of-Origin Labeling." *Journal of Agricultural and Applied Economics*. 37(1):49-63.
- Loureiro, M.L. and W.J. Umberger. 2007. "A Choice Experiment Model for Beef: What US Consumer Responses Tell Us About Relative Preferences for Food Safety, Country-of-Origin Labeling and Traceability." *Food Policy*. 32(4):496-514.
- Louviere, J., D. Hensher and J. Swait. 2000. Stated choice methods: Analysis and application, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Lusk, J.L. and J.D. Anderson. 2004. "Effects of country-of-origin labeling on meat producers and consumers." *Journal of Agricultural and Resource* Economics 29(August):185–205.
- Lusk, J.L. and T.C. Schroeder. 2004. "Are Choice Experiment Incentive Compatible: A Test with Quality Differentiated Beef Steak." *American Journal of Agricultural Economics* 86:467-82.
- Lusk, J.L. and J.F. Shogren. 2007. Experimental Auctions: Methods and Applications in Economic and Marketing Research. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- Lusk, J.L., M. Jamal, L. Kurlander, M. Roucan, and L. Taulman. 2005. "A meta-analysis of genetically modified food valuation studies." *Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics*. 30:28–44.

- Lusk, J.L., Alexander, C. and Rousu, M.C. 2007. "Designing Experimental Auctions for Marketing Research: The Effect of Values, Distributions, and Mechanisms on Incentives for Truthful Bidding." *Review of Marketing Science*. 5(3). Available online at http://www.bepress.com/romsjournal/vol5/iss1/art3/.
- Mueller, S., Danenberg, N., Remaud, H. 2009. "Are health or environmental claims important to Australian prawn consumers?" *Global Aquaculture Advocate*, Sep/Oct, 28-29.
- Umberger, W.J. and S.C. Mueller. 2010. "Is Presentation Everything? Using Visual Presentation of Attributes in Discrete Choice Experiments to Measure the Relative Importance of Intrinsic and Extrinsic Beef Attributes." Selected Paper for the 2010 American Agricultural Economics Association Meetings. Denver, USA.
- Umberger, W.J., D.M. Feuz, C.R. Calkins, and K. Killinger. 2002. "U.S. consumer preference and willingness-to-pay for domestic corn-fed beef versus international grass-fed beef measured through an experimental auction." *Agribusiness: an International Journal*. 18:491–504.
- Umberger, W.J., D.M. Feuz, C.R. Calkins, and B.M. Sitz. 2003. "Country-of-Origin Labeling of Beef Products: U.S. Consumers' Perceptions. *Journal of Food Distribution Research*. 34(3):103-116.
- Ware, J. and P. Varigos. 2006b. "A study of consumer responses to the legibility and importance of country of origin labeling –Phase 2." http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/_srcfiles/A579%20CoOL%20Print%20Size%20Phase%202%20consumer%20research.pdf.

Appendix A.1: Consumers Willingness-to-Pay for Origin

- 1. Alfnes, F. and K. Rickertsen. 2003. "European Consumers' Willingness to Pay for U.S. Beef in Experimental Auction Markets." *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*. 85(2):396-405.
- 2. Angulo, A.M. and J.M. Gil. 2007. "Risk Perception and Consumer Willingness to Pay for Certified Beef in Spain." *Food Quality and Preference*. 18(8):1106-1117.
- 3. Beriain, M.J., M. Sanchez, and T.R. Carr. 2009. "A Comparison of Consumer Sensory Acceptance, Purchase Intention, and Willingness to Pay for High Quality United States and Spanish Beef under Different Information Scenarios." *Journal of Animal Science*. 87(10):3392-3402.
- 4. Chern, W.S. and H-C. Lin. 2010. "Analysis of Country of Origin Labeling for Food Products in Taiwan using Auction Experiment." Working paper, Department of Economics, National Chung Cheng University.
- 5. Chung, C., T. Boyer, and S. Han. 2009. "Valuing Quality Attributes and Country of Origin in the Korean Beef Market." *Journal of Agricultural Economics*. 60(3):682-698.
- 6. Dransfield, E., T.M. Ngapo, N.A. Nielsen, L. Bredahl, L., P.O. Sjoden, M. Magnusson, M.M. Campo & G.R. Nute. 2005. "Consumer choice and suggested price for pork as influenced by its appearance, taste and information concerning country of origin and organic pig production." *Meat Science*. 69: 61-70.
- 7. Ehmke, M.D., J.L. Lusk, and W. Tyner. 2008. "Measuring the Relative Importance of Preferences for Country of Origin in China, France, Niger, and the United States." *Agricultural Economics*. 38(3):277-285.
- 8. Gao, Z. and T.C. Schroeder. 2009. "Effects of Label Information on Consumer Willingness-to-Pay for Food Attributes." *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*. 91(3):795-809.
- 9. Killinger, K.M., C.R. Calkins, W.J. Umberger, D.M. Feuz, and K.M. Eskridge. 2004. "A Comparison of Consumer Sensory Acceptance and Value of Domestic Beef Steaks and Steaks from a Branded, Argentine Beef Program." *Journal of Animal Science*. 82(11):3302-3307.
- 10. Loureiro, M.L. and W.J. Umberger. 2003. "Estimating Consumer Willingness to Pay for Country-of-Origin Labeling." *Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics*. 28(2): 287-301.
- 11. Loureiro, M.L. and W.J. Umberger. 2005. "Assessing Consumer Preferences for Country-of-Origin Labeling." *Journal of Agricultural and Applied Economics*. 37(1):49-63.
- 12. Loureiro, M.L. and W.J. Umberger. 2007. "A Choice Experiment Model for Beef: What US Consumer Responses Tell Us About Relative Preferences for Food Safety, Country-of-Origin Labeling and Traceability." *Food Policy*. 32(4):496-514.

- 13. Menapace, L., G. Colson, C. Grebitus, and M. Facendola. 2009. "Consumer Preferences for Country-of-Origin, Geographical Indication, and Protected Designation of Origin Labels." Working Paper No. 09021, Department of Economics, Iowa State University.
- 14. Morkbak, M.R., T. Christensen, and D. Gyrd-Hansen. 2008. "Valuation of Food Safety in Meat A Review of Stated Preference Studies." *Food Economics Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section C.* 5(2):63-74.
- 15. Pouta, E., J. Heikkila, S. Forsman-Hugg, M. Isoniemi, and J. Makela. 2010. "Consumer Choice of Broiler Meat: The Effects of Country of Origin and Production Methods." *Food Quality and Preference*. 21(5):539-546.
- 16. Schnettler, B., R. Vidal, R. Silva, L. Vallejos, and N. Sepulveda. 2009. "Consumer Willingness to Pay for Beef Meat in a Developing Country: The Effect of Information Regarding Country of Origin, Price and Animal Handling Prior to Slaughter." *Food Quality and Preference*. 20(2):156-165.
- 17. Tonsor, G.T., T.C. Schroeder, J.A. Fox, and A. Biere. 2005. "European Preferences for Beef Steak Attributes." *Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics* 30:367–80.
- 18. Umberger, W.J., D.M. Feuz, C.R. Calkins, and B.M. Sitz. 2003. "Country-of-Origin Labeling of Beef Products: U.S. Consumers' Perceptions. *Journal of Food Distribution Research*. 34(3):103-116.
- 19. Yu, X. and Z. Gao. 2010. "Consumer Preferences for U.S. Beef Products: A Meta Analysis." Paper prepared for the AAEA annual meeting, Denver CO, July 25-27.

Appendix A.2: Summary Table of Consumers Willingness-to-Pay for Country of Origin or Certified Origin

				Valuation			
Study	Year	Location	Methods	Technique	Product	Mean WTP	Results
Alfnes and Rickertsen	2003	Norway	Survey	Auction	Beef	40.10 NOK - Domestic Hormone-free 38.18 NOK Irish Hormone-free 34.32 NOK U.S. Hormone-free 25.16 NOK U.S. Hormone-treated	Norwegian consumers prefer domestic to foreign production and hormone-free to hormone-treated beef. Irish beef is preferred to U.S. beef. A significant amount of consumers (25%) bid 0 for U.S. hormone treated beef.
Angulo and Gil	2007	Spain	Survey	CVM	Beef	5% for certified beef	Results indicate that only 27% of respondents are willing to pay a premium for labelled beef. The mean WTP estimate was found to be a 5% premium.
Beriain et al.	2009	Spain	Taste Panels	CVM	Beef	15% (US vs. Spanish, no info.) 8% (production conditions) 10% (production conditions and origin)	Results show that Spanish consumers rate U.S. beef higher under different product attributes, but prefer to purchase Spanish beef when origin is known.
Chern and Lin	2010	Taiwan	Survey	Auctions	Tea & Plums	83% to 109% for tea 55% to 66% for plum	Taiwan consumers prefer domestic teas and plums to those from China or Vietnam. The premium paid for domestic production generally declines following taste tests.
Chung et al.	2009	Korea	Survey	DCE	Beef	\$13.35/pound (Korea vs. U.S.) \$12.41/pound (Korea vs. Other)	COOL and use of GMO feeds are important determinants of price. Marbling and freshness are also important.
Dransfield et al.	2005	UK, France, Sweden, Denmark	Survey/ Taste Panels	CVM	Pork	Approximately 5% for own country versus imported	Consumer were asked to bid on pork with various visual (intrinsic) information and two extrinsic cues including country of origin and production system. The more information presented, the higher the WTP
Ehmke et al.	2008	China, France, Niger, U.S.	Survey	DCE	Beef	\$0.33/pound (China vs. France) \$0.41/pound (France vs. U.S.) \$0.35/pound (Indiana vs. France) \$0.51/pound (Kansas vs. France) \$0.86/pound (Niger vs. France)	Results show that consumers generally prefer food produced domestically, but country of origin is less important than other production practices.
Gao and Schroeder	2009	U.S.	Survey	DCE	Beef	\$2.33-\$9.14 for a "Certified U.S." 12-ounce steak.	Consumers in IL and KS were willing to pay for 'Certified U.S.' but when more information was provided, the importance of origin as a proxy for quality was diminished.
Killinger et al.	2004	U.S.	Taste Panels	Auction	Beef	\$0.52 / 0.45kg (U.S. vs. Argentina SF) \$0.86/ 0.45kg (U.S. vs. Argentina Chicago)	Although steaks were paired based on similar Warner-Bratzler tenderness scores, consumers rated the domestic steaks as having greater tenderness. Preference for domestic or Argentine steak influenced willingness to pay.

Loureiro and Umberger	2003	Colorado, US	Survey	CVM	Beef	\$183.77/year \$1.53/pound or 38% (steak) \$0.70/pound or 58% (hamburger)	Females, primary grocery shoppers, and those with food safety concerns are more likely to support COOL
Loureiro and Umberger	2005	U.S. (Continental)	Survey	CVM	Beef	\$0.051/pound (chicken breasts) \$0.088/pound (pork chops) \$0.198/pound (steak)	Participants are willing to pay premiums ranging from 2.5% to 2.9%. Females and higher income consumers are more likely to pay a premium for Certified U.S. meat.
Louriero and Umberger	2007	U.S. (Continental)	Survey	CVM	Beef	\$2.568/pound (COOL) \$1.899 (Traceability) \$8.068 (Food Safety) \$0.953 (Guaranteed tender)	U.S. consumers place relatively more importance on food safety and origin-based labels than on tenderness.
Menapace et al.	2009	Canada	Survey	DCE	Olive Oil	\$9.48 CAD/Liter (COOL) \$4.74 CAD/Liter (GI) \$5.66 CAD/liter (PDO) \$4.48 CAD/Liter (PGI)	Consumers WTP for GI-labeled is higher than non-GI labeled products. Consumers value PDOs more than PGIs.
Morkbak et al.	2008	Meta-analysis	Meta-analysis	CVM and DCE	Meat & food products	5% - 111% for COOL 7%-28% for traceability 13%-120% for general food safety	There is a willingness among consumers to pay a premium for food safety. Valuable insights could be gained from studies which examine a larger number of attributes so rankings among attributes can be clearly observed.
Pouta et al.	2010	Finland	Survey	DCE	Broiler meat	30-92% lower for foreign products	Finnish consumers prefer domestically produced broiler meat. While COO was important, respondents also preferred food produced 'close' to their home country. COO is shown to be more important than production methods.
Schnettler et al.	2009	Chile	Survey	DCE	Beef	Negligible for animal welfare	Origin was most important attribute, followed by animal welfare claims and price.
Tonsor et al.	2005	UK, Germany, France	Survey	DCE		Country-of-origin was not significant,	London, Frankfurt and Paris consumers evaluated steaks with varying attributes including price, farm-of-origin and domestic versus U.S. origin, growth hormone-free, and GMO-free beef. Consumers were heterogeneous in their steak preferences. French and German consumers are more willing to pay a premium to obtain beef that is not fed GMO feed and both German and British consumers were willing to pay premiums for growth hormone-free beef. The premiums for domestic origin were not statistically significant.
Umberger et al.	2003	U.S.	Survey	Auction	Beef	\$0.42/pound or 10.5% (Steak) \$0.36/pound or 24.3% (Hamburger) 19% premium for "U.S.A. Guaranteed" steak	72% of the consumers prefer to purchase a product with a country-of-origin label. Reasons for this preference included perceived safety, a desire for information, and a desire to support domestic producers.
Yu and Gao	2010	Multi-country	Meta analysis	DCE and CVM	Beef	\$26.36/pound (Europe) \$33.43/pound (Asia) \$17.07/pound (U.S.) \$7.50/pound (Post BSE)	WTP estimates are higher when estimates are gathered using choice experiments compared to contingent valuation methods and decline by \$4.50/pound for every 100 respondents.

Appendix B: Additional Relevant Literature on Country-of-Origin Labelling

<u>Consumers Attitudes, Perceptions, Usage, Knowledge, Behaviour Relative Importance Related to CoOL and Credence Attributes</u>

- 1. Bilkey, W.J. and E. Nes. 1982. Country-of-origin effects on product evaluations. *Journal of International Business Studies*. 8:89-99.
- 2. Bonnet, C. and M. Simioni. 2001. "Assessing consumer response to protected designation of origin labeling: a mixed multinomial logit approach." *European Review of Agricultural Economics*. 28(4):433-449.
- 3. Carlsson, F., Frykblom, P., & Lagerkvist, C.J. (2005a). "Consumer preferences for food product quality attributes from Swedish agriculture." *Ambio.* 34:366-370
- 4. Fenwick, G.D. and C.I. Wright. 2000. "Effect of a Buy-National Campaign on Member Firm Performance." *Journal of Business Research*. 47(2):135-145.
- 5. Hoffmann, R., 2000. "Country of origin a consumer perception perspective of fresh meat." *British Food Journal* 102:211-229.
- 6. Janda, S. and C.P. Rao. 1997. "The Effect of Country-of-Origin Related Stereotypes and Personal Beliefs on Product Evaluation." *Psychology & Marketing*. 14(7):689-702.
- 7. Kumar, G. K. Quagrainie, C. Engle. 2008. "Factors that Influence Frequency of Purchase of Catfish by U.S. Households in Selected Cities." *Aquaculture Economics and Management*. 12(4):252-267.
- 8. Lusk, J.L., J. Brown, T. Mark, I. Proseku, R. Thompson, and J. Welsh. 2006. "Consumer Behavior, Public Policy, and Country-of-Origin Labeling." *Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy*. 28(2):284-292.
- 9. Meuwissen, M.P.M. and L.A. Van Der Lans. 2005. "Trade-offs between consumer concerns: an application for pork supply chains." *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica*, *Section* C *Food Economics* 2:27-34.
- 10. Meuwissen M.P.M., A.G.J. Velthuis, H. Hogeveen and R.B.M. Huirne. 2003. "Traceability and certification in meat supply chains." *Journal of Agribusiness*. 21:167–181.
- 11. Puduri, V., R. Govindasamy, B. Onyango. 2009. "Country of Origin Labelling of Fresh Produce: A Consumer Preference Analysis." *Applied Economics Letters*. 16(10-12):1183-1185.
- 12. Quagrainie, K.K., J. Unterschultz, and M. Veenman. 1998. "Effects of Product Origin and Selected Demographics on Consumer Choice of Red Meats." *Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics*. 46(2):201-219.

- 13. Russell, C.G. and D.N. Cox. 2004. "Understanding Middle-aged Consumers' Perceptions of Meat Using Repertory Grid Methodology." *Food Quality and Preference*. 15(4):317-329.
- 14. Schamel, G. and K. Anderson. 2001. "Wine Quality and Varietal, Regional and Winery Reputations: Hedonic Prices for Australia and New Zealand." Discussion Paper No. 0103, Centre for International Economic Studies, University of Adelaide.
- 15. Schupp, A. and J. Gillespie. 2001. "Consumer Attitudes Toward Potential Country-of-Origin Labeling of Fresh or Frozen Beef." *Journal of Food Distribution Research*. 32(3):34-44.
- 16. Van der Lans, I.A., K. van Ittersum, A. De Cicco and M. Loseby. 2001. "The role of the region of origin and EU certificates of origin in consumer evaluation of food products." *European Review of Agricultural Economics*. 28(4):451-477.
- 17. Verbeke, W. and R.W. Ward. 2006. "Consumer Interest in Information Cues Denoting Quality, Traceability and Origin: An Application of Ordered Probit Models to Beef Labels." *Food Quality and Preference*. 17(6):453-567.
- 18. Wagstaff, J. 2007. "Seafood Label Effectiveness in the Amherst Market: A Study of the Quality and Quantity of Point of Purchase Information." 13 pages, University of Massachusetts Amherst, Department of Resource Economics, Working Papers: 2007-5 AN: 0908758. pp. 1-13. Available online at http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=981149.
- 19. Watson, J.J. and K. Wright. 2000. "Consumer Ethnocentrism and Attitudes toward Domestic and Foreign Products." *European Journal of Marketing*. 34(9/10):1149-1166.
- 20. Williams, P.G., L Ridges, M. Batterham, B. Ripper, and M.C. Hung. 2008. "Australian Consumer Attitudes to Health Claim Food Product Compatibility for Functional Foods." *Food Policy*. 33(6):640-643.
- 21. Yagci, M.I. 2001. "Evaluating the Effects of Country-of-Origin and Consumer Ethnocentrism." *Journal of International Consumer Marketing*. 13(3):63-85.

CoOL Related Government and Industry Reports, Academic Discussions, Reviews

- 1. Clemens, R. 2003. "Meat Traceability and Consumer Assurance in Japan." *MATRIC Briefing Paper 03-MBP 5*. Midwest Agribusiness Trade Research and Information Center, Iowa State University.
- 2. Clemens, R. and B. Babcock. 2004. "Country of Origin as a Brand: The Case of New Zealand Lamb." *MATRIC Briefing Paper 04-MBP 9*. Midwest Agribusiness Trade Research and Information Center, Iowa State University.
- 3. Gilmore F. 2002. "A country can it be repositioned? Spain the success story of country branding." *Journal of Brand Management*. 9:281-293.

- 4. Insch, A. and M. Florek. 2009. "Prevalence of Country of Origin Associations on the Supermarket Shelf." *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management*. 37(5):453-471.
- 5. Jie, F. and K. Parton. 2009. "Analysing Beef Supply Chain Strategy in Australia, the United States and the United Kingdom." *ANZMAC* 2009. 1-6.
- 6. Johnecheck. W. 2010. "Consumer Information, Marks of Origin and WTO Law: A Case Study of the United States Certain Country of Origin Labeling Requirements Dispute." Food Policy and Applied Nutrition Program Discussion Paper No. 43. http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1579828
- 7. Krissoff, B., F. Kuchler, K. Nelson, J. Perry, and A. Somwaru. 2004. "Country of Origin Labeling: Theory and Observation." *Electronic Outlook Report from the Economic Research Service*. WRS-04-02.
- 8. Miranda, M.J. 2006. "The Perverse Effect of Country-of-Origin Labelling on Multiculturalism in a Pluralistic Society." http://eprints.vu.edu.au/553/1/COOL-ERDcondensed.pdf
- 9. Miranda, M.J. and L. Konya. 2006. "Is Mandatory Country-of-Origin Labelling a Retrograde Step in the Long Run?" *The International Review of Retail, Distribution, and Consumer Research*. 16(5):579-590.
- 10. Moschini, G.C., L. Menapace and D. Pick. 2008. "Geographical Indications and the Competitive Provision of Quality in Agricultural Markets." *American Journal of Agricultural Economics.* 90:794-812.
- 11. Plain, R. 2009. "Country of Origin Labeling COOL." *Advances in Pork Production*. 20: 41-47.
- 12. U.S. Department of Agriculture. 2009. "Mandatory Country of Origin Labeling Final Rule." Washington, DC. www.ams.usda.gov/COOL. Updated 01/12/2009.
- 13. Verbeke, W. and J. Roosen. 2009. "Market Differentiation Potential of Country-of-Origin, Quality and Traceability Labeling." *The Etsey Centre Journal of International Law and Trade Policy*. 10(1):20-35.

Economic Impact Cost Benefit Analysis and Feasibility Studies related to CoOL

- 1. Anders, S. and J.A. Caswell. 2009. "The Benefits and Costs of Proliferation of Geographical Labeling for Developing Countries." *Estey Centre Journal of International Law and Trade Policy*. 10(1): 77-93
- 2. Becker, G.S. 2006. "Country-of-Origin Labeling for Foods." *CRS Report for Congress*. Order Code 97-508.
- 3. Brester, G.W., J.M. Marsh, and J.A. Atwood. 2004. "Distributional Impacts of Country-of-Origin Labeling in the U.S. Meat Industry." *Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics*. 29(2):206-227.

- 4. Carter, C., B. Krissoff, and A. Peterson Zwane. 2006. "Can Country of Origin Labeling Succeed as a Marketing Tool for Produce? Lessons from Three Case Studies." *Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics*. 54(4):513-530.
- 5. Chung, C., T. Zhang, and D.S. Peel. 2009. "Effects of Country of Origin Labeling in the U.S. Meat Industry with Imperfectly Competitive Processors." *Agricultural and Resource Economics Review.* 38(3):406-417.
- 6. Food Regulation Standing Committee. 2003. "Consultation Paper on Country of Origin Labelling in Food." http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/4F2D88CDDFFDE3CCC A257432001F899F/\$File/cool_consult.pdf
- Horticulture Australia Council. 2006. "Policy Position for Horticulture on Food Labelling." http://www.hac.org.au/Documents/HAC%20Policy%20Positions/HAC%20Policy%20Po sition%20-%20Food%20Labelling.pdf
- 8. Jones, K.G., A. Somwaru, and J.B. Whitaker. 2009. "Country of Origin Labeling: Evaluating the Impacts on U.S. and World Markets." *Agricultural and Resource Economics Review*. 38(3):397-405.
- NZIER. 2005. COOL Revisited, Benefit cost analysis of Country of Origin Labelling. A
 Report Prepared for Food Standards Australia New Zealand. 21st September. Available
 online at http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/ srcfiles/NZIER COOL September 2005.pdf
- 10. Plastina, A. and K. Giannakas. 2007. "Market and Welfare Effects of Mandatory Country-of-Origin Labeling in the US Specialty Crops Sector." Paper presented at AAEA annual meeting, Portland OR, July 29-August 1.
- 11. Rude, J., J. Iqbal and D. Brewin. 2006. "This Little Piggy Went to Market with a Passport: The Impacts of U.S. Country of Origin Labeling on the Canadian Pork Sector." *Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics*. 54:401–420.